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‘NEW MUNSTER”

THE certificate of survey of the New Munster tract, which

SURVEYUR-GENERAL nF MARYLAND) : may be found in the old colonial records at Annapolis, is as

follows: “Surveyed for Edwin O'Dwire and fifteen other

FDR EUW'N D‘DWIRE AND ls DTHER f Irishmen by virtue of & warrant from his Lordship, dated

7th of August, 1683. Laid out for him and them a certain

b
l‘
ki
t lR'SH“EN. |Ts NBRTHERN BBUNHARY i tract of land, called New Munster, lying and being in Cecil

County, on the main fresh of Elk River,on botl sides of the

EXTENDEB l“Tn WHAT ls Nn' THE ‘ aid fresh, beginning at a marked poplar on & high bank

over the west side of the said main fresh,and about a pistole

STATE uF PENHSYLVAN'A l[ shott to the mouth of a rivelett, called the Shure, and run-
-
»

ning west, . . . containing and now laid out for six thou-
STATE ROANS COMMISSION B! sand acres more or less, to be held of the manor of Ceeeill,

2 ' | which is hereby humbly certified to your Lordship, this 26th
o % 5 ‘:%'. A, 2 —— day of August, 1683, by Georoe Tavsor, )
EAS ¢ iy T L . “8urveyor-General.”

The poplar tree mentioned in the aforesaid certificate
stood upon the west bank of Big Elk Creek, a short distance
above where the stream originally called the Shure, but now
called Fulling Mill Run, empties into that stream. The
Official Photo Shure was no domhi called by that name because it was

ROAD MARKER

THOMPSON’S GARAGE |

R.F.D. NO. 1—NORTH EAST, MD.

&uc[eéalzer .S)a/iu am:l &ruice :

PHONE RISING SUN 71-W




134 HIBTORY OF CECIL COUNTY,

* ;wl‘- easily affected by dreuth. It iea pretty little stream

{hat rises near Fair Hill, and flows in a southeast direction
tharugh & section of country most of which, until quite
recently, was thickly covered with forest trees, which pre-
vented the evaporation of the water from the earth, so that
the springs that fed it flowed nearly as strongly in the sum-
mer months as in any other season. It still sustains its
uncient reputation as a Shure and reliable stream, and once
supplied enough water o turn two milis that stood upon its
banks. The poplariree that marked theplacecfihe beginning
of the survey has long since disappeared, but the place where
it stood is marked by s rough, undressed stone, with the
Jetters W. 8. on its south, the letter B. on its east and the
jetters N. M., and underneath them the letters N, I. on the
north side, rudely chiseled on comparatively smooth places
on its otherwise rougl surface. What these initials mean
we areunable tosay. Their meaning, as well as the history
of those who placed them there, is lost. But the water of
the babbling stream still dances down ite rocky channel, as
if it wes impatient to join the larger and quieter stream
that Hows so placidly at the base of the rugped declivity,
midway up which this stone was planted in the long ego.
There can be no doubt that the stone is near the place where
the poplar stood, because the configuration of the country is
is such that the course of the streams must necessarily be
nearly the same now as they were twoe hundred years ago.
Without attempting to give the aceurate eourses and dis-
tances of the boundary lines of New Munster, it is sufficient
to state that the southern line, which started from the poplar
tree, ran sbout & mile west until it reached the southwest
corner of the tract, and then ran northwardly for about five
miles until it reached ithe northwest corner, which was
about & mile north of Mason and Dixon’s line, where the
porthern line commenced and ran in an easterly course,
and crossed the Elk a short distance above Mackey’s (pow
Tweed’s) mill, which is the first mill on that streem in
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thousand acres of the same tract, a large part of which was

east of the Big Elk, for the sum of £300 current moeney of

Maryland. The deed from Roberls to Stephenson is dated

April 1st, 1714, ~
On the 18th of May following, Stephenson sold the tract

o the east side of the Big Elk, conlaining upwards of 1100

acres, to Mathias Wallace, James Alexander, farmer, Arthur

Alexander, farmer, David Alexander, weuver, und Jeseph

Alexander, tanner. The deed recites the fact that the tract

o el conveyed to Wallace, and the Alexanders “Lhad
for sorme years last past been improved and possessed By
them, and lind been by them divided nmong themsalves,
éach an mecording to his holden, and that be, the said
Stephenson, being minded io sell the eaid tract of land,
thought it most equitable, honest and right, thet they, the
said possessors thereof, should huve the first offer to buy or
purchase each man lis holden or division of ye same”
There is no doubt, judging from the facts recited in the desd
from Stephensen to Wallace and the Alezanders that they
were part of the * 15 other Jrishmen” mentioned in the cer-
tificate of survey, and that they located npon New Munster
many years prior to the time at which they oblnined the
deed to their farms. The first deed from Slevenson to the
Alexanders contained a covenant that the grantor, Stephen-
son, would make them another and better one if they de-
manded it any time during the next seven years ensuing
afler the date of the first deed. In mccordance with this
covenant, Stevenson, by eight deeds, each of which is dated
August 15th, 1718, reconveyved his interest in nine hundred
and three acres of the New Munster tract 10 Jose
David; AFiiur, Elijah und Mary Alexander, This womayp/
Mary was (e widow of Jaines Alexander, decoased, who
probably wasthe son of one of the other Alexanders before
mentioned. By two ofher deeds of the same date he also
uonveyed cerlain- ports of the suid iract to John Gillespie
uud Mathins Walluce, jr. The land conveyed to the colony
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Penneylvania above the Slate line. The northeast corner
was nearly two miles east of Big Elk and a'little south of &
direct line joining the aforesaid mill and the village of
Btrickersville, in Pennsylvania. The east line ran soeth
from the last-uamed corner until it reached the southeast
corner of the tract, which was about & mile east of the place
of beginning, from which the southern line ran west to the
popler trec that marked the beginning of the survey. The
tract was about five miles long and two miles wide, and
consequently contained about ten square miles. The Big
Eik divided it into two nearly equal paris. Within the
limits of the tract are some of the best water-powers in the
eounty, no less than five of them being on the Big Elk.
Edwin O'Dwire, to whom the patent for New Muuster
was granted, sold it to one Daniel Toas, of Chester River, in
Maryland, when, we heve no means of sscertaining, for the
deed is not on record, who died and left & son {John Toas),
who inherited it a8 his heir and devisee. This John Toas,
it would seein, was pot a very thrifty nor & very welldo-do
man, for he induced one “ Robert Roberts, of Queen Anne's
County {glover), to become bound for ye sd. Toas for ye

sum of £200 and upwards, which the said Robert Roberts -

was obliged to pay and did pay, the snid Jolin Toas ab-
sconding himself from justice, for which there did an act of
Assemnbly pass and was confirmed, thereby empowering the
said Robert Roberts, by virtue of the samc, to make good
and valuable sale and absolute title of inheritance in fee
simple of, to, and in four thousand five hundred ncres of the
New Munster tract.” By virtua of this act of Aesembly the
eaid Robert Roberts sold to Deniel Pearce, of Kent County,
407 acres of the snid tract for 6,000 pounds of tobacco, the
deed for which is dated the 4th of Beptember, 1718, This
407 ncres was located in the southwest corner of New Mun-
ster, and contained the site of the mill near the mouth of
the Bhure, now owned by Howard Scott. Roberts also sold
to Thomas Btephenson, of Bucks County, Pa., nearly three

HISTURY OF CECL, COUXTY. 137

of Alexanders emibraced the northenst part of the New Muu-
ler rack and extended Trom # short distance noreh of Cow-
ABEOWT 10 the extreme northern boundary of New Munster,
wlich, us before stated, was about a mile north of the State
ling, ns it was located by Muson und Dixon fifty vears after-
wards. It was Lounded on the west by the Big Elk and |
the west braneh of Chistivnn flowed through it for alout a
mile, neur the northen=t corner of that part of it that is now
in Muryland.

In 31701 James Curroll took up a survey of 2,104 acres of
land west of Kew Munster,undin 1713 conveyed liis inierest
in it to Charles Carroll. The traci was called “ Bociety,”
and the deeds given shortly afterwards for certain parts of
it, recite thic fact ibat the survey, which was unfinished
before, was compleled in the lutter year by Henry Hollings-
wortli, who was then Jeputy-surveyor. Morgan Patten,
John Bristow, Joseph Stecl, and Roger Eawson were among
the first purchasers, und there iz every reason to believe
they were the first settlers upon this traci of land, which
then, 1718 and '13,n0 doubt was covered by the prime-
val forest.  “ Society,” like New Munster, was to be held of
the manor of Ceeil.  This manor was just west of Litile Elk,
and extended from near the hesd of Elk River some miles
norihward, It was probably several miles wide, and like
some of the other manors is believed never do have been
surveyed or bounded. Ui southeast corner of * Society™
was about a mile north of the southwest corner of New
Muunster, and the western boundary of Lthe latier formed the
eastern boundury of the former. The tract probably ex-
tended a5 far north as New Manster did. The deed from
Carrall to Lawson warranted to defend his title “ against all
persons claiming title, or pretended title, under ye govern-
nrent of Pennsylvania or ye terrilories thercunto belong-
ing.” This was because the Jong and bitter controversy
between the Penns and Baltimore about the boundaries of
their respective provinees was then raging.




T

RISTORY OF CECIL COUNTY. 138

b4
Snitty d p/a.ce six entire counties in the province of Ulster were confiscated. "‘

This large tarritory of confiscated land was nearly depopu-

ﬂ ON U.5. ROUTE 1 lated by the efforts of the English in reducing ita inhabit-
ants to obedience, It soon became a favorite project of the
Ya MILE NORTH OF CONOWINGO DAM English sovereign to repeople this depopulated territory
CONOWI NGO MARY LAN D with a Protestant population, hoping they would be more

’ & peaceable, and consequently less likely to rebel. Many i

PHONE — PORT DEPOSIT 2834 ducements ware held out to the people of England and Scot-
land to settle in this vacant lerritory in Ireland. The
principal emigration, however, was from Scotland. Tts coast
is near-the coast of Ireland, and the emigrants had only a
short distance to travel to reach their new homes, The
Scotch emigrantsbrought with them their habits of industry,
and their strong Calvinistic faith and rigid adherence to
the Presbyterian religion. This was the first Protestant
population that settled in Ireland, The firat Irish Preshy-
terian church was established by the Scotch.Trish in 1613,
But owing to theunstable character of the House of Stew
these emigrants were destined soon to undergo a fiercer and

more cruel persecution than the Catholics whom they had

sncceeded. The persecution of the Scotch Presbylerians\

which soon afterwnrds took place, in which Claverhouse
and his dragoons won for themselves an eternal infamy,
drove many of the persecuted Scotch to take refugs in the
secure retreats of Ulster.

This is the origin of the Scotch-Irish, a race that has been ,3
noted in the history of the United States for their love of \/
religious and civil liberty; a race to whose exertions, sacri- /
fices and valor we are much indebted for the successful issae /
of the Revolutionary war end the establishment of our /

_ o predent system of government. Their forefathera had been
taught in the school of adversity and many of them had
BEER » WINE & LIQUORS e RESTAURANT sealed their faith with their blood. When the long course

Tt St TR SR o B e LN

FILLING S5TATION of oppression and cruelty practiced by the arbitrary govern-
FISHING & HUNTING EQUIPMENT — ment'of Gre‘ut Britain upon the people of the colonies had
LICEMSES ~—— AMMUNITION — culminated in the war of the Revolution, these Scotch-Irish .
' 1
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The Charles Carroll who owned Scciety was judge and Presbyterians, whose forefatliers had long before proved the
regisier of the land office, and also agent and receiver of trath of the adage that “the Llood of the murtyrs is the
renta for Lord Baltimore. A part of this tract remained in seed of the church,” o in like manner did their sons attest
possession of the Carroll family till 1805. In that year their faith in the justice of the cause that they almost uni-
Charles Carroll, of Carrollton, aold 184 acres of it to Alsx- versally espoused, nnd hesitated not to shed their blood in
ander Jackson for £183, . maintaining it with the sword upon mauy a sanguinary

Fair Hill, which originally extended to the east side of field. Emulating in civil otfairs the example their fore-
Little Flk Creek, was taken up about the same time that fathers Lad set them in ceelesiastical matters, many of them
Society was seitled. New Castle at this time was a town of became martyrs in the cause of liberty.
considerable size and much importance; then and for many This race did not intermarry with-the native Celtie popu-
years afterwards, it was probable that more Irish emigrants lation, und to this day, after the lapse of two centuries and
landed there than any other port on the eastern seaboard a half, 3¢ as distinct as when the pioueer settlets fiest immi-

of the coloniea. These people found their way to New Ire- grated to Ireland, They were culled Scotch-Trish simply

land and the southern parts of Chester and Lancaster Leeause they were the descendants of Scots who had taken
counties. up their residence in the nocth of Ireland. The wretche
The Alexanders, and probably most of the other original policy of the House of Stawart, which had an unlimited
settlers on New Munater and the parts of Pennsylvania and capacity for tyranuy anid oppression, soon drove these peo-
Delawars contiguous to it, were Scotch-Irish; and aa this ple to seek an asylum in the wilderness of America. Here
clasa of settlers acted a conspicuous part in the early as well the ancestors of muany of the members of the Presbyterian
a9 in the subsequent history of the county, a short account churches in the northern part of Cecil County settled in the
of them may be interesting and prefitable. : early days of the history of ourcounty. They brought with
During the reign of Elizabeth, the people of Ulster, a them their habits of industry, self-denial, frugulity and
/ provinge in the north of Ireland, rebelled against the gov- : economy thut are yei retained and practiced by their de-
/ erment of England; and, as was always the case with the scendants,
;/  people of that country, they were subjngated and subjected The Alexanders and the other Scoteh-Iriah settlers npon
/  to a vigoroug and severe regime. Thongh they wereobliged New Munster aud the surrounding country were the
/ to submit to the English government, they did so with founders of the old Presbyterian churclies at “ Iead of
4 reluctance, and were ever ready for revelt. Theough the Christiana ”* and “The Rock."”
' fire of their patriotism waa apparently extinguished, it was It is a singular fuct that the firsé mecting-houses in which
A " not wholly quenched, and soon after the accession of Jumes these congregations warshiped were outside of the boun- /
I. another conspiracy wes entered into between the Earl of daries of Maryland ; the former being on the trisogular
Tyrone and thae Earl of Tyrconuel agninst the English gov- part of Pennsylvania that extends south of Mason and
erment. It was soon suppreased, and the two earls were Ivixon’s line, und only about two hundred yards east.of tha
forced to fly. Their estates, containing about 500,000 duenorth line which, for all practical purposes, is considered
acres, wera confiscated. A second insurrection soon after- 13 forming the boundury between Murvland and Delaware.
wards gava cceasion for another large forfeiture, and nearly The latter wns located in the “old atone gruveyvard” in

50
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Lewiaville, Chester County, and is about the same distance
norih of Mason and Dizon's line, Whether this was the
result of accident or design is not known, but inasmuch e
Maryland was a Catholic eolony, and the interests of thé
first settlers in New Munster were identified with those of
the people at New Castle, it was probably the resuli of the
latter. The Presbyterian church st the head of Christiana
was organized some time previous to 1708, by & few persons
who had previously worshiped in New Castle. The fires
house of worship, which stood in the graveyard north of
the present house, was probably built about the time of the
organization of the church, :

The first pastor of this chureh was Rev. George Gillespie.
He was born in Scotland, in 1683, and was a son of the Rey:
George Gillespie, & prominent member of the Westminster
Assembly of divines. Among the names of the first elders
of thia church, which were equally divided among the three

Btates, are those,of David Alexander and Andrew Wallace;

of Cecil County. Dav: exander waa no doubt one of
the original setthors o7 Now unster, and theré iz hiigle
doubt that Andrew Wallace Wwes g relatftd of Mathias Wal.
lace, anotlier of the original seitlers upon the same iract.
His grave is marked by & headstone, which shows that Le
died on ye third of March, 1751, aged 79 years. Many of
the graves of the Alexanders are marked by headstones in
# good state of preservation, which show that they generally
Tived to & good old age.

The Rock Church was founded in 1720, by members of
the Head of Christiana living in the northern part of New
Munster, gnd in Bociety, who wished a8 church nearer to
their homes, For n short time this congregation was sup-
plisd by Rerv, George Gillespie and other ministers of New
Castle Presbytery, until jn 1724 the congregation secured
the services of their first pastor, Rev. Joseph Houston. He,
like most of the early Presbyterian ministers, was o natjve
of Ireland. The original name of ghe congregation was the
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religion, and for asserting the rights of King William and
Queen Mary to the province of Maryland end all the English
dominions” John Coode was placed at the head of this
wsociation.  But little more was done till the following
July, when the revelutionists marched upon the city of 8t
Mary’s, which was then held by the ecouncil which remained
loyal to the Lord Propriotary, The revolutionists were the
#tonger party, and the others evacuated the city without
firing & gun. Whereupon Coode issuad adeclaration of the
reasons which had actuated him and his party to nsurp the
government. In this declaration they speak of the tyranny
#nd injustice of Lord Baltimore, and refer to the chstacles
thrown in the way of the collection of the king's tax and the
murder of Ronsby “by one that was an Irish papist and our
chief governor,” ete, at great langth.

The suthorities of Calvert County alone made some op-
position 1o the revolutionists ; but they soon surrendered
without bloodshed, and the others became masters of the
province. They celebrated their triumph by sending an ad-
dress to their Majesties in England, in which ikiey reiterate
the charges against Lord Baltimore in & more cover} way
than in the declaration, and seek to Jjustify, or at least to
pelliato, the couree they had pursued. The revolutionists,
feeling secure, issued wrils in their Majesties’ numes for an
election of delogateston eonvention to be held at St. Mary's
in August, 10 which the people of Calvert County objected,
and issued e declaration of thejr objectidns to choosing del-
egates. They also met with opposition in other parta of the
province; notwithstanding which the convention met, and
on the 4th of September drew up &0 address to their Majes-
ties, which is remarkable only for the cunning method in
‘which they seck to justify their own revolutionary proceed-
ings by the laudatory wey in which they spesk of their
Majesties’ achievements of the same kind. This address was
sccompanied by others from Kent, Somerset, Talbot, St.
Mary's, Charles, Calvert, Cecil, and Baltimore counties, some
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Chau n Elk River, Theophilusand his brother, Amos
Klﬁ:ﬂ%m of the Rock CUHurch, are buried g
M‘T&y lived in the northeasiern of
New Munster end were much nearer the churchee at Lowis-
villeand Sharp's graveyard, whichis a short distance north
of Fair Hill and near the site of the second church buijld-
ing, than they ware to the old church at Head of Chrig-
tena, whers they at first worshiped.

It is not within the ssope of this work (o give an extended
account of the Revolntion in England that resulied in
placing William and May on the throne of that kingdom but
inasmuch as it had a great effect npon the history of Mary-
land, and particelarly on ihe history of Cecil County, it has
been doemed important, in order to properly understand
the latler, to call the reader'’s atiention to it

The liberality of the charter of Maryland had excited the
eupidity of James I1., who contemplated instituting pro-
esedings to wrest it from Lord Baltimore, and who, had he
continued to wield the sceptre of England, would most likely
have found means to have wrested the rights and franchises
which it conferred upon Iord Bslimore from him, and
Appropriate them to his own use. But it was not 80 ordered
by Providence, and the Proprietary of Maryland eacaped
this ignominous treatment from the tyrant James, only
tobe made to endure it from his successor, He was in Eng-
land when Williatg and Mary were proclaimed, and at once
gave in his adherence to them and gent orders to Mr,
Joseph, who hiad aucceeded George Talbot as President of

the Council and chief Deputy Governor, to proclaim the

hew sovereigns in Maryland; bu anfortunately the messen-
ger died on the way and the conncil besitated to act on
their own responsibility till the new aovereigns had been
proclaimed in most if not all the other colonies, :
The Protestania of Maryland thereupon inaugurated a
revolution on their own aceount, and in April, 1680, formed
“&D association in arms for the defence of the Protestant
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of which were numerously signed, and a few of which speak
well of Lord Baltimore and his illustrious father. The citi-
zéns of Cecil County sent & petition which was signed by
hineteen of the inhaobitants, of none of whom enything
is known at this time, except George Oldfield, Casparue
Hermen, William Nowell, and York Yorkson, Georga
Qldfield hins already been reforred to; he was an attorney,
and a few years later refused to take the oath of allagiance
and supremacy, from which it is inferred that bhe was a
Catholic and still adhered to the Housa of Stewart. He re-
moved to Pennsylvania, as it was then ealled, where hes
probably still owned land, he being one of the landholders
in St Augustine's Manar as early as 1682, in which year
William Penn addressed him and some others upon the sub-
Ject of the dispute between himself and Lord Baltimore. Cas-
parus Hermen was ot that $ime lord of Bohemin Manor,
having succeeded his brother Ephraim George, and in ac-
cordance with the provision of his father's will had assumed
the nams of Augustine,

William Nowell was a lawyer. He refused to take the
oath of allegiance and supremacy, for which the couris
stopped him from practicing ; but prebably readmitted him
for the minutes of the court show, ns before stated, that he
promised to remove the cause of disability. York Yorkson,
there 5 reason to believe, came to this county from the
Bwedish settlements on the Delaware. He was probably &
Bwede or Finn. Some vears after this time he leased & few
ecres of land on the north side of Bohemin River just east
of the ferry.  He is designated in the lease us inuhilder, and
was probably the first person who kept an inn at.Bohemis,
ferry. The nddresses of the Protestants of England were
not without effect upon King William, and he thought
seriously of depriving Lord Baltimore of his charter. Legal
proceedings were instituted for that purpoce; but the facts
upon which his advisers relied were not susceptible of
Proof, and Lard Baltimere was allowed to relain the charter

61
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senling to allow the provinee to be gover{)ed by
L governurs, appointed Ly the king. This con-
be the case iill 1715, when his son Benedict
tvert embraced the Protestant religion, and the
hises conferred by the charter were restored

“T"'“ [malit
Protesian
tinned to
Lecounrd Ca
nights and iranc

1 I‘)‘;’g;]" the interval from 1680 to 1715 the members of
=

the House of Baltimore were under a cloud, so to speak,
and inmo condition to defend the province from the en-
croachments which the proprietor of Pennsylvania nmd_a
upen it. This briefl reference to the English Revolution it
i« hoped will enable the reader to better understand the
eason why the Nottingham lots and the Welsh Tract,
large portions of which are in Maryland, were granted by
Williain Penn and his agents,and why no efforts were made
to repel their encroachments,

Nottingham was the outgrowth of the settlements on the
Delaware around New Castle, which, gt the time of the
pettlement of the former place, was second only to New
Yerk in commeree and population. The pioneer setilers of
Notti- gham were two brothers, James and William Brown,
who, on puck-horses, boldly started out from New Castle in
the summet or fall of 1701 inlo the wilderness to make for
themselves a home, They were said to have been in-
fluenced in their opinion of the fertility of the seil by the
great size of the forest trees with which it was covered.
Ther stopped near a large spring, which is yet to be seen
on the narth side af the road Tending from the Brick Meeting-
house to the Kising Sun, and & short distance east of the
rond which forme the boundary between the Sixth and
Ninth election districts. Tt is on the farm now owned by
William Cameron. Near thisspring was a favorite camping-
ground of the Indians. Their trail from the great valley of
Chesier County te the hend of the bay, whither they were
accustomed to resort for fish and also to trade at the post
en Palmers Ieland, led directly pastit. Here the brothers

3
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The minutes of the commissioners, like all the writings of
the Friends, is laconic and concise. It is as follows: ,

‘At a session of the Commissioners at Philadelphia, 14th
of the 111h mo., 1701. Present—Edward Shippen, Griffith
Qwen, Thomas Story, James Eogan, See. Cornelius Empson,

for himself and several others, te the aumber of twenty fam-

ilies, chiefly of the county of Chester, propose to make a
Bettlmt. on a tract of Jand sbout half-way between Delaware
and Susquehunnough, or near the latter, being about twenty
miles distant from Kew Castle, on Oferaroe river, in case
they may have a grant of twenty thousand acres in said
place, ai a bushel of wheat per 100 (ncres), or five pounds pur-
chase,to be after at & shilling aterling per annum, which
being duly considered and the advantages that mighs arise
thereby, by rendering the adjacent lands more valuable and
encouraging ye settlement of Busquehannough river, ’tis
proposed thai they shall have 15 or 20;000 acres at £8
pounds per 100 acres, or at 2 bushels of wheat rent per an-
num, the first year for their encouragement to be fres of rent,
or one year credit to pay the purchase money. He agrees
to the price of purchasze or to a bushel and a half per an-
num, But it is referred to thee in further consideration.”
The spplication of Empson, ae eet forth in the preceding
minuie of the commissioners who were appointed by Penn
and authorized to have charge of his land and to look after
his interests in the province, met with the favorable eonsid-
eration of the proprietary, or the eommissioners concluded
to act on their own responsibility, for on “ye 7th of ye 1st
mo,, 1701,” they issued the warrant of survey to Henry Hol-
lingsworth, at that time & citizen of Pennsylvanis. This
warrant contains the names of the otiginal seitlers for which
thesurvey was made, They are ag follows: Henty Reynolds,
Cornelins Empson, John Empson, Johe Richardson, James
Brown, Willism Brown, Henry Bates, Edward Beson, Jas.
Cooper, {of Darby), Randal Janney, Andrew Job, John
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Brown unloaded their weury horses and went to work fell-
ing the forest trees anil clearing the Jand for the purpose of
making reom for dwelling-houses and engaging in agricnl-
tural pursnits.  The small amount of provisiens brought
with them were xoon exhausted, aud they were obliged to
retury o New Castle for a fresh supply. Other Friends
scomipanied them on their return to Nottingham, and by
the next spring they Liad accommodations for several fami-
lies. The first house, erccted by William Brown, is said to
have Lecn buitt on the site now occupied by the house of
William Cameron. This is the traditional story of the first
setilement in Nottingham that bas been handed down from
greacration Lo generation of their descendants, sote of whom
¥et oceupy purt of the Jand upon which their forefathers
setided.

it is very probable that the brothers Brown preceded the
other setilers a short time, and that the others were ac-
quainted with them and admired the fertility of their land
snd the beauty of the location, and were for these reasons
induced Lo esk for the privileze of taking up the Notting-
bam Jots. This name was applied to Nottingham Township
afier the Revolutionary war by the Legislature of Maryland,
in an act for the relief of the owners of the land, which,
ibough granted by Penn, was found to be in Maryland
when the dispute between him and Baltimore was adjusted
in 1768, It was called Nottingham Township by the au-
thoritivs of Pennsylvania, and was divided into thirty-seven
parts; hence the name, “ Nottingham lots.”

In comnpliance with the provisions of this set of Mary-
land, whicli was paesed in 1785, the then proprietors of
Rottinghsm, in order to show the validity of their title,
procured copies of the minute of their epplication to the
commissioners of property of Pennsylvania, and also their
warrant for the survey of Nottingham, which they caused
W be recorded among the land records of Cecil County.
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Churchman, Ebenezer Empson, Johu Guest, of Philadelphia. *
These were to have one thousund acres each. Joel Bayley,
Robert Dutton, Swrnuel Littler, and Messer Brown were to
beve five hundred acres each. The whole township was to
be divided into eighteen several divisions of one thousand
acres each, three of which the proprietor reserved for his
own proper use, The choice of the several divisions was to
be dirposed of by lot. The warrant directed the surveyor to

- begin st the northern barrens, betwéeen the main branch of

North Eastand Otteraroe Creek, and further specified that
the southern boundary was to be an east and west line pa-
ralle]l with the sonthern line of the province, and that the
£8 were to be paid within one year after the date thereof.
It nlso provided for the payment of an annual quit rent of
one shilling sterling for every one hundred acres, or, in
cass of failure io pay the first sum, they were to pay two
bushels of good winter wheat for every one hundred acres,
o be delivered af some navigable woter or landing place on the
Delaware River. Following the record of the certificate of
survey is a plat of the township, accompanied by a certifi-
cate certifying that it is compiled from data in the office of
the surveyor-general of Pennsylvanie. The plat shows the
iract {0 have extended two and & half miles east of the com-
mon on part of which the Brick Meeting-house now standa,
from which it ran due west nearly nine miles, West of the
common, for & distance of three miles, it was thre¢ and a
quarter miles wide; for three miles further west it was three
miles wide, while from the southweat corner tiiere extended

* GorneYlus Ewpson, John Richardson, Henry HReynalds, Ebenezev
Ermpeon, and John Guest, each of whom are mentioned in the warrant of
survey, and all of whoin were among the original grantess, never reaided
in Nottingham. The reader will notice a elight discrepancy between the
names in the warrant aod those on the plat. The original record has bean
followed in each case. The Reynolds and Janney families of this eomaty sre
the destendants of the above mentioned Henry Reynolds and Randal
Janney.
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»
* A Draught of tha Township nf Notilingbam
actording ta the survey insde thereof 1o the
e 3d month, A_D_170L Copled from tha origloal
on page 55 Book No. 14,008 of the land recond
LBooks of Cecll County.
LR
Edward Beson.
L
Henry Reynolds. u) 5 Henry Reynolds,
John Rlehardson. ». q John Richardson
Propristar, 2. 7. - Proprietary,
Eb, Empaon. n L9 Cor, Empson.
Wm, Brown. «a& B, Fropristary.
Cor, Empaomu . m. Eb. Empson.
Proprietor, a5 11, Joel Bayley.
Jas. Coopror, o, 12 Jatnea Cooper.
Jua, Brown. . =N Troprietary.
Wi, Brown, B 14, James Brown.

" .
Font, Ducton. 2 | |15  Recdslfanney,
Common, o,

Meetlng-Houss. d I8 John Churchman,
Robt, Dutton. |
Bam’l Littler, H. i
Andrew Job. n 7. f
Wm. Brown. = —J
57

Randal Janney, 3. |

: John Bates. |
Andres Job, #5. ‘ 8,
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a parallelogram a mile & quarter fong and a half mile wide,
which included what is now known as Vinegar Hill. The
whole township contained thirty lots, the most of which
were a mile and a half long and half a mile wide, whick
shows that the instruction in the warrant, autherizing the
surveyor to Jay out the tract into sighteen several divisions
of ona thousand acres each, had been disregarded. The
names of Robert Dutton and Samuel Littler appear upon
each of the lots immediately east and west of the meeting-
house, while the names of John Churchman and Randal
Janney are found upon the Ioks immediately north and
northwest of it. Andrew Job's name appears on the lot at
the southeast corner of the tract, which was a short distance
southeast of the Blua Ball tavern; and those of Edward Be-
gon and Henry Reynolds upon the two most westerly lots,
as will be seen by reference to the map. The lots are sepa-
rated by what seems to be intended to represent a road, but
which, by the scals accompanying the plat is an eighth of
a mile wide. The lots, as before stated, wera to contain
a thousand acres each ; including the road, they did actualy
contain, as shown by the plat, about five hundred acres. It
was intimated in the warrant that the four persons that were
to have five hundred ncres each were to divide a thousand
acres between them; this accounts for tha township being
divided into thirty-seven instead of eighteen lots, a3 directed
in the warrant. The plat also shows that several of the per-
sons who were to have a thousand acres each took up two
of these five hundred acre lots, and that in some cases ihey
were several miles apart.

The reader will recollect that Talbot's grant of Susque-
hanna Manor, which was made twenty years before by Lord
Baltimore, included the whole of Nottingham and extended
some miles nerth of it into Pennsylvania, Talbot waa
charged with the maintenance and extension of the au-
thority of Baltimors as far north and east as cireumstances
warranted him in believing it was possible to fxtend it.

MEETING HOUSE
Built 1811
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Although his manor extended many miles above t]}e n}ol_ﬂ.h
of the Octorars, he probably had little hope of .mamt:nmng
his title to all of it, and probably extonded it northward
simply to acquire 6 claim and to hold it in behalf :zf Lord
Baltimore. He saw with what tenacity the settlers along
the Delaware maintained possession of the land there,
though it was covered by Baltimore's patenf, and he re-
polved 1o profit by their example. Talbot’s line, frou_a the
mouth of Octoraro to the mouth of Naamen's Creek, is the
line referred io by the commissioners of Penn in their war-
rant of survey &s the southern line of the province.

The religious and pelitical difficulties that prevailed ip
England in the reign of James the Second, as before inti-
mated, had a disastrous effect upon the prosperity of Lord
Baltimorc. His misfortunes were increased by the efforts
Iiskindness prompted him to make in behatf of his kinsman
Talbot, in order to shield him from the cousequences of the
morder of the unforfunate Rousby. He was & Catholie,
and the Puritanical spirit that raged in the time of Crom-
well was not yet extinct, William of Orsnge and Anne
owed too much to the Protestants of England to be disposed
to look with much favor upon the claims of Baltimore,
created a8 they were by a prince of an exiled family and a
member of the church which they despised. Talbot, the
courageous and irrepressible Talbot, whose brilliant career
in Cecil County atones for its shoriness, had long since dis-
appeared, and the proprietor of Maryland, shorn of every-
thing but the nominal possession of his right in the soil of
his splendid domain, languished in neglect and obscurity.
These were the reasons why the princely domain of Susque-
habna Manor was cut in twain by the commissioners of
Penn. Had George Tnlbot been alive and at the head of
his rangers, the guict Quakers would never have thought
of asking the cominissioners of the courtly Penn for the
Nottingham grant, nor is it probable he would have granted
their reyuest. It was a masterly stroke of policy on the
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was built of Lewn chestnut and yellow poplar logs, which
were very durable; some of them are to be found at ihe
present time in an old building on the place where Susannah
Reisler now lives. Autlorities differ about the time of the
erection of the brick house; some of them place it in 1724,
others in 1735, There is also & difference of opinion as to
whether the brick used in its construction were imported
from England or made in the neighborhoosd.  Elisha Rowls,
who died some forty years ago, at the age of eighty, said his
father did the earpenter work of the building in 1750, after
the first fire when the addition was built. From informa-
tion obtained from Lim some of the old residents are of
opinion that the bricks were made near the house; others
think they were imported from England. It is a curious
but well authenticated fact that the first buildiug was roofed
with slute obtained somewhere along the Octoraro Creek,
but where,no person now living knows. In 1751 the wood-
work of 1his house was burued, and in the following yesr a
slone addition of equal size with the original structure was
erected—thus its capacity was doubled. In 1810 the wood-
work -was again burned, and in the following year it was
replaced. Btrange to say, though half of the walls of this

old house ure stone, it still bears its original name of “ the’

Brick Meeting-house,” and though the bricks have stood the
test of two fires in addition to their original burniog, and
though the frosts and snows of one buudred and fifty-four
winters have spent their fury upon themn, they appear ko be
none the worse and look as though they might last for
many centuries longer. A

The meeting-house called lhe Little Brick, standing ou
the north side of the P. & B. Cent1al Railread and about
one mile and s quarter southwest of Rising Sun, was built
on & lot embracing five acres and a few perches, granted on
the 11th day of first month, 1727, by James King and
William IHarris, *Te the people of God, called Quakers,
members of the munthly mecting of Nottingham and New
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pariof Penn to eut SBusquehanna Manor in twain, and plant
a setticment of bhis followers in the midst of it. This was
the surest way of thwarting the efforts of Lord Baltimore
and his agents 4o extend his jurisdietion to the 40° of north
latitude should that experiment be tried in the futere.
This view of the case is strengthened by a tradition ameng
the Friends that the original settlers of Nottingham had at
firs1 intended to settle in the rich valleys of Pequea or Con-
estoga, but were influenced by the earnest solicitation of
Penn to seitle in Noitinghem in order to strengthen his
claim, and that in the spring of 1701 he rode over the
ground in compuny with the leuders of the party to view
the " Juy of the land.” During this visit he is suid 1o have
marked with hiz own hund s spot he selected, from which
tle waler descended in all directions, as the site of the
present brick mecting-house, which was built upon part of
the forty acres he donaied to them for that purposec, and
which is vet in their possession.

When Mason and Dixon's line was Jocated, it cut upwards
of 1,800 acres off those lots that extended farthest north, and
in 1787 their owners presented & pelition to the government
of Pennsylvania, slating that owing to the unsettled condi-
tion of the houndary Letween that State and Maryland, the
original grantees had not compliod with the terms of sale,
aud proying that thoese parts of the lots in Pennsylvania
might be surveyed sud their titles be coufirmed. Their
request was granted and a warrant wae issued to George
Churehman, whe the same year surveyed them,

The Friends that settled upon Nottin ftham were frugal
wid industrious, and soon the forest disappeared beneath
their sturdy strokes, and grass and the waving grain suc-
ceeded it.  The brothers Brown, like their father, were min-
istern of the gospel, aud in 1704 & meeling was organized at
the house of James, which was the origin of the Quaker
congregation that now worships in the Brick Meeting-house.
The first meeting-house was erected in 1709 or 1710. It
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Garden,” and the money paid therefor woa declared to be
the money of that people. This lot was a part of Penn’s
lot Neo. 20.

The present brick building .was erected in 1811. The
frame building previously occupied was removed to the
casiern side of the Rising 8un, and was there used by Ben-
jamin Reynolds for a carpenter shop and afterwards for a
stable.

In 1750 the monthly meeting of Nottinghem and New
Garden, mentioned above, was divided into two, viz, Not-
tingham, held at the Brick Meeting-house; East Notting-
ham, and Kew Garden, held at New Garden, Chester County,
Pennsylvania, and at the same time & preparative meeting
wasestablished at Little Brick. In1732Edward Churchman
was buried in the burying-ground nt that place, showing that it
was then occupied for that purpose. He died of smallpox,
at the mill of Henry Reynolds, on Stone Run.

It 15 probable that upon the erection of this last meeting-
house, the nemes of East and West Nottingham were first
applied 1o the respective parts of the original Noitingham
Township. In 1728 many of the inlabitants of Susque-
hanna Hondred petitioned the court for a road to be Jaid
out “from the chureh road by the Indian towu, called Pop-
pemetlo, until it joins unto the road lJeading unto the
(Jusker meeling-house at the west end of Nottingham.”
They give asa renson why they wanted the rond, that the
country was settling so fast that the old road was sbout to
be closed up,.. The eburch road referred to in the petition
wha a road leading from some poini wear the mouth of the
Octoraro to the Episcopal church al the head of North
East, or to the chapel connected with it, that slood a short
distance enst of Port Deposit. Nothing is known at
this time about the location or history of the Indian town.

The people who were settling the country so fast es to ex-
cite the apprehension of the inbabitants of Susquehanna
Hundred that their road would be closed, were the Scefch-
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Irish Presbyteriana wha settled contiguoua to Nottingham
and who were the founders of the Notlingham Presbyterian
church. The road they speak of was the one they traveled
from the upper ferry {now Port Deposit) to Philadelphia,
and waaa continuation of the old Philadelphia and Not-
tingham road which ran from the former place to Durby,
thenes io Chester, thence past Concord meeting-house to
Kennett and New London X roadsand renched Nottingham
at the Brick Meeting-house. Many of these Scotch-Irish
settled on the romantie hills among which the benutiful
QOctoraro rushes so impetuously to meet and mingle with the
more stately Susquehanna. Others of them settled jmame-
diately south of the western part of Nottingham, In the
course of time, and a3 opportunity offered, many of them
becams residents of the original Nottingham grant. The
Ewings, Moores, Evanses, Pattons, Maxwellaund muny others
whose descendants are now imembers of the West Nottingkam
Presbyterian church, settled on or near the west part of Not-
tinghiam about this time. .As carly as 1724 they Lad organ-
ized a chuarch, and it is probable, julging from the fact that
in 1720 their inceting-house is called theold meeting-house,
they were nuniereus encugh to have organized o (hurch
and erected a house of worship several years prior to the
year 1720. It ia a matter of doubt where ths first house of
worship stood. Even tradition, with its contradictory
stories, is silent upon this subject. The name of the con.
gregation, as it first appears on the records of tho Presbytery,
is the Mouth of Octoraro. Afterwards it was called Lower
Octoraro, In 1730 it received the name of Nottingham, by
whieh it hus been known ever since, notwithstamling there
was an effort. made in 1503 to change the name to Ephesus,
and in 1344 to changeit to Kirkweed, both of which efforta
fatled. The history of this churek and the distinguished
divines that have been connected with it, as weil as the his-
tory of the Nottingham ucademy, will be given more at
length in a subsequent chapter.

3
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The Qualker settlement of Nottinglwn was frequently
visited by iinerant Friends when they were journeying
from place to place to proclaim the guspel.

It is worthy of remack that at this time the Indians stil]
lived in Lancaster County, and that a fuw traders wers
stationed ut or nenr the mouth of the Conestogn. Thess
[ndinns were the retnant of the Susquehnnnocks that had
taken refupe there with the Senevas and =huwnees, from the
encronchments of the seitlers ulong the bead of the bny.
In 1705 they were visited by the dignitaries from Penn's
plantations alony the Delawnre, wlio made a treaty with
them. The same year Thomas Chatkley visited Nutting.
linmn arel as bie expresses it, * had a cencern upont his mind
tor visit the Indians living newr Susquehinnna, at Conestoga.
He lTaid it before the elders of Nottingham meeting, with
whicli they expressed their amity and promoted my visiting
thent.”  MAeccomlingly, having sceured the services of an in-
terpreter he, accompanicd by about o dersn of the citizens,
set out throngle the forest to visit the Luniaus.  The party
traveled on horseback wanl careied their provisions with them.
They spread their food upoen the grass and dined under the
shiule of the trees in the primeval forest refreshing them-
selves and lLiorses with water Irom the river, upon whose
Links they had stopped to cnjoy the midday tmeal. The
Trulians received them kindly, and some of them gave evi-
dence that the preaching of this humble Quaker, whose zeal
was only equaled by hismeekness, had touched their hearts
aned prepared them for the receptionof the divine grace and
light, an abundant measnre of whicl appears to have been
vouchsafed to him. There were twa tribes of these Indians.
SHenecas and Shawansee.  Chse of the tribes wing governed
by an empress, so Chalkley ealls her. whose advice the
Indians scught betore they consented to held the meeting.
she appears to have been a woman of age aud experience,
sl had had a remarkable decam o short tie hefore the
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... f the Quakers, whicll seeme to heve left & deep -
ns:‘;on upon her mind. Though the Friends sanctioned
the preaching of women, they were gurprised to find this
|ribrpunder the government of 8 woman, and inquired why

)i wh BO. The Indians replied that some women were wiser:

(hat $OmEe men.”
Inasmuch a5 Many of the descendants of the firat petilers

e Nowingham sre yet living in this county, and this sc-
ecuont of it would otherwise be incomplete, we append & few
o sketches of some of the most prominent of them.

Benjamin Chandlee, the emigrant who planted the family
pamt &t ¥ottingham, was the son of Williama Chandiee, of
Kumore, in the county of Kildare, Ireland, probably born
about 1685, The pext notice we find of him i on the 25th
of the 3d month, 1710. On that day he was married at
Friends’ meeting, in Philadelphia, to Rarah, deughter of
Able Cottey, “ wateh maker of Philadelphia” Tt appears
that Benjsmin &t the time was engaged with Able Cottey in
pasness, probably a2 en apprentice or journeymsn.

[o 1706 Able Cottey had purchased one of the Notting-
barm Jotx from Rands!l Janney, some four hundred acres.
This Jot Able conveyed to his son-in-law upon his marriage
w0 bis daoghter. This fortunate event induced Benjamin to
pumove Lo the property soon after his marriage. He estab—
bsbed his trade in & emall way, doing also iron work forthe
weighbars.

It seerns that Aois Cottey had also became possessed of &
seoall farm &djoining the Brick Mecting-house lot. This
projerty his widow, Mary Cottey, left Ly will (¥ being aged
and infirm "} to her deughter, Sarsh Chandlee, dated 6th
mo 36th, 1712, and proven “and registered at Chester, 3d
menth 3d, 1714, She also mentions grandesons Able Cotley
and Caticy Chandlee, and leaves £10 to John Cottey, *'if he-
comer 1nto Lhese parts again.” Benjamin Chandlee, the first,
weemt 0 have been a man who, had opportunities offered,
weald have risen to distinction in his profession. Agit was,
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moral and religious duties assigned him. He lived unmar-
ried, but having secured fhe scrvices of Susanna Fallwell,
his mother'a sister, as housekeeper, his domestik comforts
wers such as to occasion few regrels on that sgore. This
excellent lady survived him,and diedin the 2d mponth, 18186,
Jsaac departed this life, much regretted by his [neighbors,
the 10th of the 12th month, 1618, aged 62 years.

Ellis discontinued the business after the lossjof his bro-
ther. He had lived to see it rise, ficurish and expire, and
0 note the depariure of many of his generation. He died
ghont the vear 1820, leaving a family.

Cottey Chandlee, son of Benjamin, the emigrant, born at
Fottingham about 1713, and died there in 15807, aged about
94 years, was a quiet, uncbirusive Quaker,|and lived
unmarried.

Joseph England was an approved minister in be Friends'
Bociety; son of “John England and Loue his wife ;" born
in 1680 zt Burton, on the river Trent, in Staffordshire. In
1710 be matried Margaret, daughter of Bamuelmnd Joanna
Orbel, born at Desl in Kent,in 1885. They [settled firat
at Deal, but removed to Burton, whence, in 1752, they
came to America, bringing their childmn,Johu‘,anual and

Joanna, with them; Joesph and Lydis were boyn after their
arrival. Joseph and Margaret departed this life, the latter
fn 1741 and the former in 1748, The fine tract'of land on
North East Creek that they called “Springfield” is etill oc-
cupied in part by their descendants, and by Joseph Hamilton,
whose residence is on the site of the eriginal homesiead.
Among the early Friends who setiled st Nottingham was
Jehu Kay. He purchased a tract of land called “Hind-
man's Legacy,” which corners at Colore. The residence of
the late John 'Fosh is upon it; alse the depot mnd railroad
buildings &t Colors. The Friends have a tradition that
this Kay was a descendant of the first male child born of
Englich parents on the site of Philadelphia after it was Taid
out for a city. In consequence, Penn presented him with &
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Joemted i & new country where the indispensable necessities
of life cinim the most prompt sttention, and the demand
for the exercise of his skill limited to the most simple pro-
dorts of dotestic use, he could da little more than actas a
paonees for succeeding artisans. In 1741 he removed with
ke younger children to Wilmingten, Delaware, where he
Wecatir the ancestor of the respectable citizens of the neme
$a that vicinity.

Benjamin Chandlee, founder of the celebrated firm of
Chandiec & Sons, of Nottingham, manufacturers of clocks,
surreyor' compesses, and mathematical insiruments of all
hinde was the son of Benjamin Chandlee, the emigrant, barn
&t Nottiugham about 1728, snd resided on his father's farm
it 3t was mold on his removal, to Joseph Trimbls, in 1741,
wbes be took up his residence on the lot Jeft by Mary Cottey
% bus mother, adjoining the meeting-house land, Hers e
bred, and died $th month, 18th, 1794, in the 6Hh
yrar of his age. In 1749 he * proceeded in  mar-
negr with Mary Faliwell, daughter of Goldsmith Ed-
ward Fallwell, of Wilmingten, according to the good order
established among Friends! Mary gurvived him, and sfier
» life spent in the fulfillment of Christien duty, died 10th
mecth Gih, 160G, in the 78th year of her age, both being
smierred in East Notungham Friends’ graveyard. The em-
et stained by Benjamin Chandles in the manufacture
! acyentific, mathematical, and chemical instruments, was
protably not surpassed during hie time by eny other firm
Yo America.  After his decesse the business wea continued
with credit and success by bis sons, Isaac and Ellis, who
snberiied their father's teste and zea), applying their inge-
waily to the production of most of the then known instru-
wents used in the various messurements of time, the prop-
®rurs of the magnet, electric currents, engraving, etc.
-::““ Chandise was & member of the Bociety of Friends,

R part in its deliberations and Iaboring quietly in the
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syuare in the new town. His appreciation of this present
was such that when he arrived at manhood le exchanged
it for o horse, sadéle nnd bridle.

The Browhs, before spoken of, were noted as well for their
zeal 08 ministers ns for their enterprire and industry. The
mill on Norilh Enst Creek, known as Hutford's mill, was
built by them; and one of the sons of James Brown, who
married and lived nenr Principio iron works, had an inter-
est in them es early as 1718,in which year ho died. In
1751 six of the Brown family, four men and two women,
were ministers of Nottingham monthly meeting, A aub-
stantial stone house built Ly Meeser Brown is now (1881)
sanding about o mile southwest of the Brick Meeting-
honse, and is oceupied by the descendants of John Church-
man, one of whem intermorried with o descendant of Messer
Brown.

Andrew Jobestablished the first tavern in Nettingham on
Jot number 33, about 1710, in & small brick house which is
believed to be yel standing a few rods north of the house
formerly called the Blue Ball inn, of which it was doubtless
the foreranner.  The Blue Ball tavern being at the junction
of the Lancaster County and Nottingham roads, which were
the great tharoughfares between those places and New Uas-
tie & century ago, wns well patronized, and for a long time
was one of {he most celebrated hotels in the county. The
Henry Reynolds whe settled in Nattinghaum, is the reputed
founder of the village of Rising Sun. the original name of
which was Sumner Hill, by opening & pubiic house neor the
% Roads in the villuge. I tradition is to be relied upon,
John White, who purchased lot number 29 from Ilobert
Dutton sbout 1717, established st that time the X Keys
tavern, near the Drick Meeting-hounse, on the spot where his
grandson, Abner While, many years after erected] the present
brick edifice.

Although but o part of Welsh Tract is in Cecil County, it
seems proper to give a short sketch of its early history,

&7
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because of its close proximity to our county.and intimate
connection with and influence upon it. It was granted to a
colony of Welsh Baptists in 1701. Talbot had disappeared
some fifteen years before that time, and Penn was no doubt
quite as anxious te interpoze a barrier on the esat of New
Ireland by granting the Welsh their tract as he was to cut
Susquehanna Manor in two by his grant of Noitinghsm to

the Friends, which he did sbout thres months afterwards,

ho, L d th i
T et s e Sty ESTABLISHED ABOUT 1710 o
from William Penn were at that time residents of Radnop LOT N 0. 35 OF "THE NOTTINGH A H

Township, then in Chester County, Pennsylvania., where for &

short time most of the original Welsh settlers on the Welsh LOTS"BY ANDREw JOB wHO SECURED

Tractlived, The agreement between Penn and the agents of

- .

the Welsh stated that they were to have “thirty thousand IT FROM WILLIAM PENN. JOB s SON
acres, if there ba so much vacant in the place hereafter ax-
pressed. That is to cay, behind the town of New Castle THOMAS MARRIED ELlZABETH
westward, extending northward and southward; beginnin
to the westward, sf\ren miles from the said towngol' N“E MAXWELL' NlE"CE OF DANlEL DEFOE
Castle, und extending upward and downward, a9 thers shall - -
be found roem by regular, straight lines, as near as may be.” w H 0 WR OT E Ro B I N so N c RUSOE .
The purchasers were to pay £12 10s. for every hundred
acres, and were {o pay for 7,000 acres at the expiration of
the two years next after the purchase, and for the remainder
of the tract at the end of the thres following yeurs; and if
they failed to make the payments at the time specified, they
were to pay one English pound for every one hundred 3
acres s a. yearly rent till such time a3 the other payments
were wade, ‘They were wlso to puy one English silver
shilling for every hundred acres as a yearly rent forever.
The northeast corner of the Welsh Tract is a few hundred
yards northeast of the depot of the Philadelphia, Wilmington
and Baltimore Railroad at Newark, Delaware, from which
the north line extended 1,446 perches, or about four and a :
half miles, west to the norihwest corner; frem which the Official Phetg
western line ran due seuth upwacds of & mile, and then by
& number of angles continued south, gradually bearing east,

x
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to some distance south of the Chesapeake and Delawars
Canal. The southern and eastern bounduries were quite as
irregular as the weatern, the only straight line being the
northern one, The northwest corner of the tract was not
very far from the Big Elk Creek, and there is some evidence
in the land records of New Custle County of that period
that the Jand west of the upper part of the tract, and Le-
tween it and Big Elk Creek, was granted by Ienn’a apents,
and for & time was considered as being parl of New Custla
County. The northwest corner of the tract is mentioned in
the report of a commission which marked and bounded the
Jands of Samuel Wilson, who was the proprietor of the cele-
" brated place called Wild Cat Swamp in 1784, but owing to
the division of the lands then marked and bounded, and
the length of time since it was done, it is not easy to ascer-
tain the location of the said corner at this time. Wild Cat
Swamp has been known in modern times by the nama of
“Cat Swamp.” It is located a short-distance west of where
the road from Elkion to Newarl crosses Peraimmon Run.
Some of the residents of that locality had rather an unenvi-
able reputation in former times, aud at least two murders
wera committed on or near it.  Owing to the bad reputation
of the place it was hard to locate, and in time the name was
applied to a large section of country extending some milea
in every direction from the original Wild Cat Swamp.
This section of country now contains some of the best farms
and the most industrions, enterprising and moral people in
the county.

Certainly oue-eighth, possibly one-fourth, of the original
Official Photo Welsh Fract is now in Cecil County, & part of it Leing west
BLUE BALL TAYERM of the boundary line located by Mason and Dixon more
than half a century after it was granted by Penn to the
Welsh. The object of Penn in granting this truct to the
Waelsh was the snne he had in view when he granted Not-
tingham to tho Friends, viz., to extend his domain as near
the navigable water nf the Chesapeake Bay us he possibly
could, and at the same time to civeumscrile the limits of
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Maryland as defined in its charter, ot rather to counteract
and destroy any right that Lord Baltimore might have
acquired by virtue of the erection and occupation of the
fort befora spoken of, which Talbot had erected on the
Christiana Creek.

The Welsh found a few settlers on their tract when they
took possession of it. These persons claimed under titlea
from Lord Baltimore, and the Welsh had some trouble in
dispossessing them,  One of them had planted a peach or-
chard upon ITron Hill, and, &8 was very nalural, he was loth
1o leave his home. The Weish threatened to put some of
these people in New Castle jail, apd owing to ¢auses hereto-
fore meationed, Lord Baltimore was unable to aid them in
maintaining their rights, and the Welsh appear to have had
an easy victory.

Why the Welsh lacated where they did has long been a
mystery, for much of the land is too awampy now to be of
any use far any purpose, and it must have been 1uch worse
a hundred and ten ycars ago. But probably the land in
Welsh tract was better than the land in Wales, and very
likely some inducements were offored the Welsh of which
we are ignorant.

Prominent ameng the original seitlers upon the Welah
Tract were the faunders of the old Baptist Church upon Iron
Hill, which was founded one hundred and seventy-seven
years ago by residents of Pembroke and Carmarthenshire,
South Wales.

The original entry in the church record is as follows: “In
the year 1701 some of us who were members of the churches
of Jesus Christ in the counties of Pembroke and Carmar-
thenshire, South Wales, in Great Britain, professing believers
baptism, laying on of hands, election, and final perseverance
in grace, were moved and encouraged to come to these parts,
viz., Pennsylvania, and after obtaining leave of the church,
it seemed good to the Lord and to us, that we should ba
formed into church order, as we were a sufficlont number
and s one of us, Thomas Griffith, was a minister;” which
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was accomplished, and they brought letters commendatory
with them, so that if they met with any others of like faith,
they might be received by them as brethren in Christ.
Amony the names of this pioneer band of Baptists are
those of Thomas Griffith, Enoch Morgan, Mary Johns, Mar-
garet Matthias, and James David. In June, 1701, this little
band of Christians sailed trom Milford Haven in the ship
James and Mary, and landed in Philadelphia the September
following. After their arrival the old church recerd states

they lived much scattered for about a year, but like good .

Christians they were not forgetful of the apostolie injune-
tion, but kept up their weekly and monthly meetings.
During this time their number was increased by the nrrival
of twenty-two other members, among whom are the names
of Reess and Catharine Ryddarcks, Peter Chamberline, and
Thomas Joneg, all of whom, except the first, have left de-
seendants who yet reside within the bounds of this ancient
congregation.

Reese Ryddarcks lies buried in the old church-yard be-
longing to the church on Tron Hill, Tradition saith he was
an officer anul served in Cromwell's army during the trouble-
some limes that praceded the trial und execution of Charlea
I. A modest and unassuming tombstone marks the last
resting-place of the liero of many battles, who sleeps his
Jast sleep on the northern slope of the Iron Hill, near which
the murmuring waters of the Christiana have sung his re-
quiem for more than a century and three quarters. He
seama to have been a man of distinction, for his tombatona
has on it a Latin inscription, the only Latin one in the
graveyard. It is as follows:

RICEUS RYTHROUGH
NATUS, APUD. FFANWENOG
IN. COMITATU CARDIGAN
ET HIC SEPULKUS FUIT
AN. DOM. 1707
ZETATIS FUSE 87,

HISTORY OF CECIL COUNTY. 165

of which the following is a translation: “Reese Ryddarcks,
born at Hanwenog, in the county of Cardigan, and was
buried in the year A. D. 1707, being 87 years of age.”

This church was the third Baptist church founded in
America. The present meeting-house was built in 1747,
and is yet in a good state of preservation. It issaid that
the floor and ceiling joists of this building were taken from
the first house, which was a log structure and stood near
the site of the present house. The bricks used in the con-
struction of this old house were imported from England,
and transported from New Castle, where they were landed,
in panniers upon mules. The difficulty of obtaining bricks
probably caused the adoption of the peculiar style of archi-
tecture that prevailed at this time in this enuntry. The
gables of this and some other old churches stop short of the
height of the apex of the roof, a small part of which ia
pitched 30 as to throw the water fulling upon it towarda the
end instead of the side of the building. This peculiarity
givea the buildings a curious and unique appearanca. Many
of the original settlers on the southern part of Welah Tract
were Fresbyterinns, whose religious opinions and doctrine
differed but little, except in the ordinance of baptism, from
that of their countrymen who settled on the northern part
of it. These Presbyterians were the founders of the Penca-
der Preabyterian Church at Glasgow, which in organization
is probably nearly ns old as the Baptist chureh ab Iron Hill,

David Evans and William Davis, two of the persona who
acted as agents in procuring the grant of the Welsh Tract
from Penn, are believed to have been Presbyteriana At
what time they erected their first house of worship ia not
known. The Welsh did not remain long at Radnor, where
they first stopped, but some of them soon aflterwards located
at Trediffrein, in the great valley of Chester County, about
the same time that others of them settled upon the Welsh
Tract.

The Rev. David Evanz was the first pastor of the Pen-
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-terian Church. He was & nativeof Wales, and
“f:;P:flg.e David Evans before referred to. He corn-
:m,a.d preaching without license or authority, but was
prompil¥ stopped by the Presbytery of Phnladelphn;l,'l;
whase jurisdiction the Pencrgder Church then was, whic
erdeced him to cease preaching for one year and 'df&\'ota
himself to study under the direction of uneof the ministers
of 1hat body. He obeyed their erder and went to Yale Col-
depr, where he was graduaied in 1713. He was licensed the
prxt vear, and had charge of the united congregations of
r'uu-der and Trediffrein until 1720. It seems strange, now
when clinrches are so near togeiber, that two churches so
far apart should bein the charge of the same pastor. BE;f.
the pionecrs of Presbyterienism were men that del!ghbefi n
gussionary lebor, and were prepared to make any sacrifice
ot undergo any hardship in order to preach the gospel fo
therse who then resided in the wilderneas. It issaid of some
of them that they spent one-fourth of their time in work of
this kind. They were eminently devoted and pious men,
wh~, mith a zeal and energy not unlike his who heralded
the coming of our Saviour in the wilderness of Judea,
wetr over ready to spend their strength in their Master’s
mts v, To have offered them a vacation would have been
o have officred them an insult. They fully recognized the
fa-t that the warfare in which they were engaged would ad-
mit of no truce and would only end when their Captain
alin} thein to go up higher; bence it wes nol strange that
thi« Welsh prescher, who probably was the only Presby-
wruan preacher in the colonies that spoke the Welsh lan-
gusgr, should have charge of iwo churches fifty miles apart,
and that he endured the hordships and labor incident to the
tn:thful performance of his duty. David Evans was u man
of much learning and ability, though eccentric and Ligh-
spatited. e was the first stated clerk of the Preshytery of
New (antle, and was pastor of the Pencader and Trediffrein
thurchee for about pix years. His suceessor was the Rev.
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might be near this depesit of useful mectal. They had a
furnace and forge in operation on the Christiana Creek, near
the mine, abont 1725. Abundant evidence is yet extant to
show that their method of mining differed from that now
in vogue, in this, that they sunk a shaft till they struck e
vein of the ore,und then followed it for long distances, many
feet under the eurth’s surface.

A few years ago the miners employed in the ore pit on
Iron Hill, cate upon one of the galleries made by the
Welsh miners, and discovered a rude shovel and pick and
a small tallew candle, the wick of which was made of
flaxen yarn. The candle, though probably & century old,
was in 4 good state of preservation, but the shovel nnd pick
wore 50 badly rusted that the former could be readily picked
to pieces with the thumb and finger.
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Thomas Evane, who wos n native of Wales and s relative
of thr firet prstor.  Hia pastorate extended over a period of
slout twenty years, until his death, which eccurred in 1742,
Hr was an excellent schelar and had an academy at Pen-
enrs  Near the close of his pastorale the Pencader Church
®er frit in Awsin by the controversy that grew out of the
greaching of Whilefeld. This division in the chureh led
% the organization of the Presbyterian church at the Head
of Eik, now Elkton. The gospel was preached in the Welsh
Jangusge 1o the Pencader congregation 1ill 1776. The same
dangpusge is said to have been used for mearly a quarter of
& senlury later in the Baptist church.

Thus brief sketch of Welsh Tract would be incomplete
w:thout & short reference to Rev. Bamuel Davies, who was
torn Were on November 34,1723, He received his classical
*dscation under the tuition of Rev. Able Morgan, a8 Welsh
Eaptot minister, who had received his education from Rev.
:‘“J“,’“ Evaus, st {he academy at Pencader. Ho wns of

LN b
&1 was one of the most learned and eloguent divines of the
Lmean which he lived.  He was the pioneer who planted
trwranism iu Virginia, and was sent, at the request
* e Synod of New York, to Europe to solicit contributions
If.m.! of I'rinceton College. He wns a true patriot,and like
i the early Prestyterian divines, he was always found on
.LU—"M le of civil mna religious Liberty, :
‘"l.:-‘:»r;d:r_ ‘uh‘ich name js naw applied to one of the Hun-
. .".l Srw (.:u!'llc County, is & Welsh name, and is said
_u._-.h:' the Ligheat aeat.l" If that is the meaning of the

lf::-..;p:.:. I'N\'JH_)‘ applied to the Hundred because Iron
g a " aoulngh #s {o h!?ve been called by the early
Hiswtilers “a greal and high mountain.” s in the north-

OFT gt ol i ’
il.l:r;‘;:[ﬁ l:;o culled f.m:.n the la..rge quantities of iren ore
e v wlains; nnd it is not improbable that the frat
te induced to locate on the Welsh Truct that they
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RANDALIA

The Smaller Part of Rondolic Was Built in 1690, the Middie Section about 1790,
present owners (Mr. and Mrs. Steele Howard) whe are of the eleventh descendant of Augustine Hermann.
of Bohemio Manor consisting of 1,000 acres, {Read Johnston's, Pcge 185, for the Dividing of the Manor.)

3
Official Photo

CHAPTER XIIL

CUharastoristics of the early settiers— Augustine Hernven suceeeded by his
son Casparus-- Aceount of Casparus Heomen-Farme on Bohemia Manor
—Death of Carparus Hermen—Succeeded by bis son Epheim Augustine
=Bketcli of Epliriam Augustine Hermen—His wives and ehildren—John
Lawson marries Mary Ilermen—Feter Bouchsll marries Catharioe Her-
men—Yeter Lawson—UCatharine 4 22ermen) Bouchell—Har death—Jonepli
Engor—Quariel about the possession of Bohemia Manor—laseph Ensor,
Jr.—Dvision o Bohemia Manor—Death of Peter Lawson.

Jtis worthy of note that, althougl several of the centres
of civilizution in Cecil County were settled two centuries
ago, thie manners, customs and religion of the original set-
tlers have been transmitted fromn generation to generation
of their descendanta; and although not as distinctly marked
now as they were b first, still they arc yoi easily distin-
guished and readily noticed by the close observer.

Augustine Hermen and George Talbot differed in many
respects from each cther, but they were not more different
than those who now live upon their respective manors. The
Boliemian and the Hollander; the Irish Cathiolic; the En-
glisl: Episcopalian; the Scoteh-Irish Presbyterian; and the
meek and unassuming Quaker, have each lefi the well-de-
fined impression of their nationality and religion upon that
part of the county where they settled. With few exceptions,
wherever a church was planted by the early seitlers, one of
the samne denomivation yel exists. The old Cathiolic Church
in Bussafras Neck, which is called Boheniia, though it is
some miles south of Bohemia River, the Episcopal churches
of 8. Btephen and 8. Mary Aun, and the Nottingham
and Rock Presbyterian churclies, arc notable examples
in proof of the truth of this assertion. The eatly extinction
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of the Labadists is an exception; but they were more mer-
cenary than religious, and their community, like most sys-
tems of religion which have been founded upon a false basis,
having had nothing but the cupidity of its devotees to hold
it together, soon disintegrated and tell io pieces. It is also
worthy of note that many of the leading families of the
county atthe present time can trace their connection back
to the leading familics of two hundred years ago. Thisis
especially the case with the descendants of Hermen, many
of whom have occupied positions of honor and responsi-
bility.

It would be neither interesting nor profitable to give the
exact date of the smaller grants of Jand in the county. It
suffices to state that with the exceplion of a few tracts along
the Bassafrus River and the Elk Neck, which were taken up
about the time that Augustine Hermen settled upon Bohe-
mia Manor, the otlier portions of the county were not exten-
sively seltled until after the beginning of the seventeenth
century. Probably nearly all of the land in the county had
been patented previous to 1750, though much of it stili re-
mained uncultivated,

The render’s eitention is now directed to the conclusion
of the listory of Boliemia Manor. The time of the death
of Augustine Hermen, ns before stated, is unknown, but it
probably occurred in 1656, His oldest son, Ephraim George,
survived him only a short tine, when the vast estate which
his father had been at such paing to acquire passed into the
poasession of lis second son Casparus, who, in accordance
with the will of his father, assumed the name of Augustine.
He took possession of the Manor house on the 3d day of
Junc, 1690, but did not leng enjoy the honor of being Lord
of Bohemia Manor. A luw enacied in 1697 by the colonial
legislature, empowering his widow Catharine to dispose of
some of his real estaie, shows that he died sbout that time.
It is probable that there was some contention about the
occupation of the Manor house, for there moy be seen among

The remaining sections were cdded by the
Rondalia was a part
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the e in the Hermen portfolio in poauesaion_ of th.e
l]istg:il:ﬂ Bociety of Maryland, a sheet. of paper with this

certificate npon it:

=« Posseasion of the Manor house of Bohemia Manor de-
livered by Daniel O'Howry, the tenant in possession, o
Casparus Hermen, the lawful and undoubied heir of Augus-
tine Hermen, lately deceased, before ue, this third day of
0.
Jupe. 16 “Wirriam Darg,
“ EpwarDp JoNEs,
“ Jorx THOMPSOR.”

Immediately after this is the following eniry on the smne
shest :

" Quiet posmession of the Manaor house of Bohemia Manor
accepted and received, this 3rd day of June, 1690,

* CASPARUE AUGUSTINE HERMEX.

=Ju presence of us—Wm. Dare, Edward Jones, John
Thompson, clerk to the Commissioners of Cecil county.”

The two first-named gentlemen were no doubt justices of
the quorum, who with the clerk had been authorized to
jnrest the new lord of the manor with the rights and fran-
chises belonging to him.  He represented this county in ithe
legislature in 1604, and in the same year entered into & con-
tract with the General Assembly for the erection of the parish
church, school-house and State-house at Annapolis; the
seat of government having been removed from St. Mary's to
that place a short time before. He was thrice married;
first to Susannah Huyberts, secondly in New York, August
23d, 1652, 1o Auno Reyniers, and thirdly in Cecil County,
August 3Ist, 1G96, to Catharine Williams. ke left three
danpliers, Susannn, Augustina, and Catharine, and one son,
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considerations mentioned in these leases, is that in the lease
for the tract on which Port Hermen stands. It was execated
10 1713, and the consideration was one ear of Indian corn,
payable snnuelly, if demanded in the month of November,
and the further consideration that the lessee was to "keep
two hunting hounds, that were to be part of the cry of
hounds that the lord of the manor then kept” This wasa
low rent for 160 acres of land, but probably the tenant was
expecied to devote some of his time to the entertainment of
his lordship, and it might have cost him more in time and
trouble than at first sight is apparent.

Caszparus Hermen died in 1797, and, as before stated, was
succeeded by his son Ephraim Augustine, who was a minor
st the time of his father’s death, and who arrived at mato-
rity about the year 1713. He seemns to have been a man of
business, and represented the county in the legislature in
1715,1716,1728 end 1731. He died in 1735. His personal
property was appraised at £875, and consisted of o Iarge
amount of household goods and eighleen negro slaves. His
manor plantation, consisting of 350 acres of land, is repre-
sented a8 being in a very bad condition. The house and
out-buildings were in a dilapideted condition, the fences
were down, and judging from the return of the appraisers,
which is recorded atnong the land records of the county, it
must have presented e forlorn and doleful appearance.
The land was divided inlo four fields, and there was on it
an orchard of about 450 old apple trees. The rental value
placed upon if was only £10, Maryland currency, after the
quit rent was paid. The disparity between the value of
the personal and real estate is very notable, and it is more
than likely that the proprietor of the Manor had neglected
his estate while attending to the public business, and sacri-
ficed his individual interest to the public good. The miser-
able condition of his plontation was probably owing to the
existence of sluvery and the baneful effeet which invariably
followed its introduction. He was twice married and left
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Ephraim Augustine, io whom the manor descended by the
terme of the deed of enfeoffment given to Ephraim George
by hix father slortly before his death, and which has been
referred o before; and also by virtue of Lis grandfather's
will, which entuiled the Manor upon his descendants.

The land recorde of the county warrant us in believing
that, &t the time of Casparus’ death, the Manor was but
very sparsely seitled, for up io 1733 seventy-five pluntations
bad been ol or Jeused by the Hermens, most of which
were dispased of by Ephraim Augusline, the grandsen of
the founder of the Maner. A few of these plantations wers
in EIk Neok and elsewhere, for Cosparus was not exempt
frean the manis for the acquisition of land that almost
Al-f-_\-b attacked the leading men of that time, and had ac-
quired 8 thousand avres—part of §t. Johw's Manor, which
»a- located in the above nomed place, and enother large
tract tween the Conowingo and Octoraro crecks, in the
Eahitde district. This tract was called the “ Levles” It con-
taiied upwards of & thovsand acres and included the farm
of William I'reston, which for that reason he calls “Her-
n:un_]«le." The legal papers of this period contain many
sliusivns o Lawking and huuting, fishing and fowling,
wild cattly, ele.  And the considerations in many of them
Fefer b the eustoms of manors in England. These leases
®ere made for three lives or during the Jives of three per-
sans then living, and the tenants were to demean thom-
selves according to the manners and cnstoms of tenants of
manors in old Englund.

In _1715 onie of these farms on the Manor was loused for
£1 Y current money of Maryvlaud, or value thereof in
Romd, s, bright tobacco, winter wheat, barlex or Indian
curn, 8Ll current merchant price in Marvland. The rent
W generully made payable at the Munor house in the
:x:'u":lh of Rovember. In many cases o good fut eapon or
. ¢ dung-hill fowls were exucted of the tenant as part of

‘¢ annual rent,  One of the mest curious and suggestive
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two daughters, Mury and Catharine, by his first wife. The
nume of his first wife, and also the family name of his
serond wife, are unknown. The given name of his second
wife was_Araminta. The recd™5 of the county show that

ghe wns murried at least f times: first to Hermen,
secondiy to Joscphi Young, thirdly to William Alexander,

. and fourthly to (eorge Catto,  She is said to have been very

aristocratic and haughty. She lived to a good old age and
was buried in the lot a shorl distance southeast of the
dweliing-house, near Elkton, now orcupied by Daniel Brut-
ton. By lis second wife e had one son, who survived his
father, but died before renching maturity.

A paper in the possession of the Maryland Historical
Society, but which has no date upen it, shows that E. A,
Hermen sought to obtain the king's dissent to the act of the
Jegislature of the eslony confirming his grandfuther’s will,
This will, to which reference hns been made before, was
properly proved and recorded, but sonie malicious peraon
tore out the leaves of the book upon which it was written.
A eopy of the wilt being afterwards produced, it was legal-
ized by an act of the coloninl legislature and admitied 1o
record.  Ephraim’ object probably was io acquire o fee
simple title to the Manor, ns Lic did to Litile Bohemia, us
Middle Neck was then called, in 1724, by an act of the
legisiature passed at his solicitation, and which broke the
entail of that part of his grandfather’s estate. There is
reason to think that his motive was a mercenary one, bhut it
probably would Liave saved lis family much trouble had e
suceeeded in accomplishing his purpose, as the historv of
the disputed succession to the Manor will show. Mary, or
Meary Augustine Hermen, as she is sometimes calied, because
she assunted the Christian name of her great-grandfather,
was of very weak mind; indeed, if tradition is true, she was
almost, if not altogether, an idiot. Now it so huppened that
& cunning and designing lawyer, one John Lawson, made
the acquaintance of this idietic girl and fell in love, not
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with her, but with lier fortune, and resolved to marry her
that be might obtain it. Tn order to accomplish his puoe-
pose he sought every opportunity te be thrown in centact
with the young lady, and was in the lahit of taking her
carciage-riding with him for long distances. Nor was this
ail, for upon these ocensions, in order to secure the sucecess
of his well-laid scheme, lie taught her to repeat, much like
& parrot would have done, the proper answers to such quess
tions us he believed & jury would sk her when empaneled
lo ascertain whether or not she was compos mentis, It is
highly probable, indeed it is almost certain, that during
this time she was under the cure of Ler stepmother, Mrs.
Alexander, who probably_ was not cognizant of Lawson’s
nefarious schems to entrap her, and who, if she was, may
have been gratified with the prospect of being relieved of
the responsibility of taking care of her. Owing to the
strenuous and persistent efforts of the designing Lawson,
the young lady was so well instructed wlien the praper time
arrived, which was probably when she reached maturity
and was about to take possossion of her shars of the Manar,
that she answered the questions propounded by the jury so
intelligently that they pronounced her to be of sound mind,
and she was logally invested with one-half of the rents and
profits of the Mauor. Lawson seon afterward scughtanother
opportunity to take her out carringe-riding. During this
ride he and the heiress were murried, and the deep-laid
scheme that put him in possession of one-half of tha princely
domain that Augustine Fiérmen, obtained in order to per-
petuate his name was successfully accomplished. This hap-
pened some time previous to the year 1751, for the records
of the county show that in that year Poater Auvgustina
Bouchell, who was of an ancient fumily that came to the
Manor while the Labadists were in the heyday of their
power and prosperity, and who had married Cathariue
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Augustine Lawaon, jointly leased several plantations on the

Manor.
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These two persons, the reader will obgerve, both assumed
the name of “ Augustine,” in accordznce with the will of
their wives' great-grandfuther. Young Hermen, the half-
brother of these ladies, being dead, thay were, or wera sup-
posed to be, the sole and rightful heirs of the Manor, which
then was divided into upwards of fifty plantations, most of
which had been leased by former proprietors for long terma
of years, for what now would be considered very low rents.
Thesa reats were generally made payable at the Manor
house, semi-annuaily, at Christmas and Whitsuntide. All,
or a large number of them, were payable in grain or tobaceo,
and frequently a pair of good fat capons or dung-hill fowls
were added as part of tha rent, o that the table of the lord
of the Manor might be well supplied with poultry.

The widow of Ephraim A, Hermen (then Mrs. Catto} was
living at this time and waa in the enjoyment of her share
of the income derived from the Manor, During the life of
Catharine, her husband, Peter Bouchell, (as appears from a
bill filed in the eourt of chancery, by Joseph Ensor, in 1760,
a copy of which is in possession of the Maryland Historical
Society), received the rents from the lessess of the Manor
Pplantations, and kept the accounts incident to the business
transaetions between himself and the other heirs, whose
agent he seems to have been, and the tenants,

dohn Lawson and Peter Bouchell and their wives wers jn
the enjoyment of the Manor as joint tenants for several
years, and no doubt had n fine time; but the designing
Lawsen was at length brought face to face with an enemy,
in combuting whom Lis legal knowledgy and cunning
availed him nothing. He seems to have done the best he
could o secure the property he so meanly acquired to hia
brother Peter Lawson. This Peter Lawson had received a
power of attorney from his brother John and wife in 1751,
which empowered him to transact all business appertaining
to their share of the Manor, and it is probable that he con-
lnued to be their attorney until the time of his brother's

death. John Lawson's will iz dated September 3d, 1755,
It was admitted to probate on the 13th of the following
October. He devised all his property, real and persanal, to
his brother Peter, and the records of the Orphan's Court show
show that his wife gave notice on the day his will was proved,
that she would not abide by it, and that sha demanded
her third of the property, agreeable with the act of Assembly,
from which it ia inferred that her hushand had presumed
to disposo of her share of the Manor in his will. On the 4th
of December, 1755, this simple-minded Mary Lawson leased
her shars of the Manor to the aforesaid Peter Lawson* “for
21 years, or during the lives of Judith Bassett and Michael
and Richard Bassett, her sons." This is tha first reference
in the records of the county to Richard Baasett, who became
a distinguished lawyer, and was a momber of the conven-
tion that framed the Constitution of the United States; aftor-
wards a member of Congress and Governar of the State of
Delaware. He was also a warm friend of Francis Asbury,
and & leading wnd influential member of the Methodizt
chureh,

On the day follawing the date of this lense, the widow of
John Lawson gave her brother-in-law, Peter Lawson, a spe-
cial power of attorney to act for her in all business matters
pertaining to the management of her share of tha Manor.
In this instrument she convenanted not to interfers with
him in the management of her estate; from which it seoms
Plain that she had unlimited confidence in him, or that she
was certatnly the simple-minded mortal that tradition states
lier to liave been. At ull eveuts, Peter Lawson sevms to Luve
been ss securely invested with one undivided half of the

* Peter Lawson waa never matvied ; about Attty yaars previous to 1787
he went to llve with the Bassstts, who wore his relatives and who kept
& tavern at Bohemia Ferry, and continued to resids with them for many
years, untll the time of Mra. Baysott’s death. For some redson Mr. Bas.
sett deserted ltis wife, and Lawson seemn to hava scted a8 clerk in the
tavern, ee ('evil Cn,, Land Recovds, book 17, page 273,

L
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Manor as circumstances permitted him to he. Hais de-
scribed as “jun-holder” in the lease fram Marv Lawson,
which indicates that he had suceeeded the Bussetts as pro-
Ppristor of the tavern at Bohemia Ferry, which still continued
to be a place of much importance. A short time after this,
in 1760, Peter Bayard, who was probably inspector uf tobae.
o, refused to repair the inspection liouse at the ferry, that
Place being ons of the Places designated for the inspection
of that staple, which was then enltivated to a considerable
extent upon the Munor aud in that partof the county south
of the Bohemia River.

Catharine Herinen, the reader will recollect, married Peter
Bouchell. She died about the year 1752, leaving two dangh-
ters, Mary and Ann.  Mary murried Joseph Ensorin 175%;
and Ann, being quite young, was raised by her grand-
mother, Mary Holland. ~ This is so stated in m bill filed in
chaneery to compel Joseph Ensor (who hiad been appointed
her guardian in 1757) to pay her hershare of the rents, This
Mary Holland must have been the mather of Peter Boy.
chell, who had married a gentleman by the name of Hol-
land.

Joseph Ensor was s member of the Ensor family who set-
tled in Baltimore County very early in the history of the cal-
ony. At this time he was called Joseph Ensor, merchant, of
BaltimoreCounty. The family at one time owned alargatract
of land just east of Joues' Falls, upon which part of thecity
of Raltimore has been built. Joseph Ensor is believed to
have resided in North Blk Parish in 1760, for the birth of
his eldest son, Augustine Hermen Ensor, may yet bo seen
u he register of that parish, and wna recorded in that
Hn 1760 “ he and his wife and Ann Bouchell, an ‘in-
fa.. .¥ the said Joseph Ensor, her next friend,” instituted a
auit in chancery against Peter Tawsen and Mary Lawson,
alleging that they and John Lawson, for a long time Lad
collected the rents of the Manor, us Lad nlso Peter Douchet,
and that Peter Bouchell had kept a book of memeorundums
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of the rents received from the suid Manor and leysed Tandds,
and “which rents amounted to the sum of 21,000 or some
othet large sum of money, besides 4 very great number of
dung-hill fowls received as rent on the suid leuses,” and that
the said Mary Lawson had actually felled, ent down, and
carried away, off and from the Manor plantation sundry
and great quantities of wood and timber, insomuch that
there is not left on that plantation anv quartity of timber
to support the same, nor fire-wood suficient therefor for any
nunber of years, ete; praying that they might be compelled
to make discovery of the book kept by Boucheil and of the
rents since received, and be enjoined to desist from the
waste of the timber, etc.: to which the defendant replied at
the April ternt of conrt, 1761, that on the death of Epliraim,
their half brother, Catharine and Mary had possession of
the said Manor, claiming and tuking the same in right and
quality of joint tenants in teil in temainder, according to
express words and stipulations of Augustine Hermen's will;
that the two sisters continued to hold the Manor till the
death of Catharine, when her Lusband Peter Bouchell, took
his wife’s part us tenant by ceurtesy, and continued to re-
ceive one half the rent during his life, and that no parti-

" tion of the Manor had ever been tnade; that the joint ten-

ancy continued o exist till the time of the death of Catha-
ting, and that Mary was entitled to hold by right of sur-
vivorship, and that they were not obliged to make any dis-
covery, ete. In other words, that Mary Lawson was the
heir of her sister, Catharine Bouchell’s part of the Manor.

As for the rents, arrearages and profits, the dung-hill
fowls, ete,, and the boek of memorandums, they, the said
defendants, demurred thereto, alleging that, inasmuch as
the plaintitfe had no title to the Manor they were not re-
spousibla for those things, and furthermore that'the plain.
tiffs had instituted three several suits at common law for
the recovery of the rents, ete. The defurrer was not sus-
tained, and the cause remained in court 1] the September
term, 1763, when it was stricken off the docket.
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In 1762 Ensor and wife suffered a recovery of all the
Manor, the effect of which was to break the entail and give
them = fee-simple title to the half of the Munor claimed by
Mrs. Ersor under the will of her great-great-grandfather,
Mrs, Lawson, who waa no doubt instigated by her brother-
in-law, Peter Lawson, some time afterwards, probably in
1765, resorted to the same legal proceeding, with a like re-
gnlt as to her share of the Manor. It is worthy of remark
that SBamuel Pace, one of the signers of the Declaration of In-
dependence, once resorted to this legsl fiction or Process in
order to effect m recovery, and by that meane became in-
vested with u fee-simple in that part of the Manor known
a8 Town Point. Mary Lawson had resorted to the same
proceeding in 1760, bui Ensor resisted her in the provin-
cial court, where the proceedings were had, and the
court, afler a full hearing of the witnesses on hotli sides,
was unanimously of the opinion that ehe was not capa-
ble of “snffering . recovery, by reason of her insanity
of mind.” However, in 1766 she gave Michael and Richard
Bassett a deed for a thousand acres of Jand each for the
small consideration of “ five shillings, end on aceount of the
Jove and natural affection she bore boward the said Michael
and Richard Baeseit, the sons of her loving cousin, Judith
Bawett,” Thisfact indicates that Judith Bassett was s descen-
dant of Judith Hermen, the.second deughter of the founder
of the Manor. On the 9th of December, 1766, she execnted
& doed in favor of Peter Lawson for Ler undivided half of
the Manor, excepling the 2,000 acres which she had con-
veyed to her consins the Bassetts. The consideration named
in this deed is five shillingaard an annnity of £100 Maryland
currency. Ong of the witnesses to this deed was George Catlo,
her stepmother's husband. This deed effectually accor-
plished what John Lawsons will had failed to do, and per-
Tected that which the Lawsons had vainly tried for many
years to accomplish, namely, the acquisition of Mary Law-
son's share of Bohemnia Manor.
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the Manor, And it is shown by papers in the possession of
the Maryland Historical Society, that “BSamuel Beedis
attorney for Catharine Gravenrod, having taken poesession
and livery of all Bohemia Msnor, or of some part thereof
in the name of the whole, for Catharine Gravenrod, did
deliver the same t«Josaph Ensor, on the 27th day of Feb-
ruery, 1767.”

The Van Burkelows have been mentioned before, and it
may be interesting to our readers to know that they were
the descendants of Herman Van Burkelow, who lived with
the Labadisisin 1683, st which time he was twenty-cne yearsof
sge. He was probably one of the original colony, The name
has been applied 1o & sinall stream on the Manornow called
Burkalow Creek. After Ensor purchased the rights of the
heirs of Casparus Hermen, he, as was very natural, wished
to get possession of all his Jands. To this end he consulted
his attoruey, Daniel Delaney, and made the following state-
ment : "' Col. Peter Bayard and D'r. Bouchell weare guardians
tomy wife and Ann Bouchell, her sister.  After their father's
decease, they kept the Manor plantation one year, and then
divided it with Mrs, Lawson and Mrs. Catto, who had her
dower in it” *Cattorented his wife's part to Lawson and
kept it till Mrs. Caito’s death, and now refuses Lo give up
the half of her part to me, and has, ever since he had her
part, stopped up the road 1o the Manor house. I wani to
know how I shall get possession of that pert that falls to us
at Mrs, Catto’s death and get the road opened,” ete.

This was in 1766, and it seems to indicate that Mrs.
Caito was dead at the time. Delaney recommended s re-
gort to legal proceedings, in the prosecution of which Ensor
was probably successful. In 1765 Joseph Ensor seems, after
long continued litigation and mach expense, to have been
in the undisturbed possession of one undivided half of the
Manor, for in that year he mortgaged it and some other
land in Baltimore County, a partof which was enlled by the
curioug name of “Seed Ticks Plenty,” to Charles Carroll, of
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The before-mentioned recoveries were made without any
reference to the deed of enfeoffment given to Ephraim Georgs
Hermen, by the founder of the Manor, on the 9th of Aungust,
1684; indeed it ie stated in a legal opinion by Thomas
Johnson, Jr., & distinguished lawyer of that day, which may
be seen among the Hermen papers now in the possession of
the Historical Bociety, that the said deed weas not known to
be in existence when the aforessid transactions took Pplace.
The discovery of this deed pul a new phase upon the mat-
ter; and Ensor, following the advice of Daniel Delaney,
enother eminent counselor, who was of the opinion that the
descendanis of Cesparus Hermen'’s danghters were legally
entitled to the Munor by virtue of the provision of this deed
of enfeoffment, set to work to bunt them np and purchase
their rights.

This view of the case makes it necessary to refer to the
daughters of Casparus Hermen, who the reader will recol-
leet was the grandfather of Ann Bouchell and Mary Law-
son.  This gentleman, as before stated, left three daughters,
8usanna, Augustina and Cathorine. The first named mar-
ried James Creagear, the second Roger Larramore, the third
Abel Van Burkelow. Euch of them was dead at this time,
but two of them had left heirs. The heirs of Susenna Gra-
venrod* Jivedin New Castlz, those of Catharine Van Burke-
low in Virginiz. But Josepl Ensor seems to have been a
man of determination and he sought them out, and in
order to make liis claim 16 the Manor doubly aure, he pur-
chesed any right they had or were supposed to have in it.
It is curious to observe the old English custom that still
prevailed when these purchases were consummeted. A
large number of these heirs constituted Samuel Beedle,
(Biddle) their attorney, to invest Ensor with Ppossession of

* The genealogy of the Gravenrods has uot been sscertained, but they
were ovidently the duscendants of one of the davgliters of Casparus Her-
men,
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Carrollion, for the sum of £3,191. In 1774 he became
afflicted with the manin that often prevailed in the early
history of ihe county of building a town at Court House

* Point. But the Jand was heavily mortgaged, and no person

would invest in town lots so encumbered. Ensor accord-
ingly induced Carroll to releasc twenty-five acres at the
aforesaid point for this purpose, and gave him his bond eon-
ditioned for the execution of a mortgage on the ground
renis of the town lots, which were to be leased for ninety-
nine years, renewable forever for a yearly rent of not less

ithan forty shillings per acre,

This brings us to the troublesome time of the Revolution,

.when the people of this country were no doubt thinking
' more about defending the towns they already had than they
. were of building others, and Ensor met with no betier suc-

cess than his predecessors. Joseph Ensor and wife were the
parents of at least, three children, the oldest of whom bore the
Christion name of Augustine Hermen, and was aceidentally
killed, while celebrating his twenty-first birthday, by being
thrown from his horse while fox hunting, on January 25th,
1781. His other son, whose name was Joseph, was an idiot,
with probably still less sense than his grand-sunt, Mary
Hermen. He is said, by old residents of the Manor, whose
parents were well acquainted with him, to have been very
fond of dogs, and to have always been asccompanied by
eeveral of thern. He had a habit peculiar o mauy simple-
minded persons of wandering about in an almost nude con-
ditien, without any definite object in view, and frequenily
slept in fodder houses, which were rude structures much in
vogue in thoese days, built of poles and covered with corn
fodder. Frequently in the mornings, after spending a
night in one of these houses, he wonld awgke, and finding
the dogs had left him, in search of food, he would call ihem
in stentorian tones and & curious nesa} twang that conld be
heard for & Jong distance. Simple though he was, he knew
that he wos Jord of the Manor, or at Jeast the heir of one-
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fourih of it, and 3t is said he would often draw g circle

round him on the ground with his cane, and defy any per-
son who disputed his right to the title to eross it. Joseph
Ensor's other child, Mary, married Colonel Edward Oldhan,
who was an officer of great bravery and much distinction,
and who served in the Continenial army under General
Greene, in the campaign in the Carolinas,

The time of Ensor’s denth is uncertain, but it occurred
about the close of the Revolutionary war. He lived on the
Manor for some years previous to his death, and was prob-
ably buried there. Peter Lawson is believed o have oc-
eupied the Manor louse near Bohemia Ferry, as before
atated, at the time of his denth. In 1791 he sold one un-
divided third part of his share of the Manor to Eichurd
Bassett and Dr. Joshua Clayton for £2300. He hLad
Previously sold to Basseit a plantation on the Manor, con-
taining 450 acres, for the smallsum of twenty shillings, Aelip
of paper fo be seen among the Hermen papers, in possession
of the Marvland Historical Bociety, containg several mem-
orandums, among which it ie siated thet he was at that
time “deranged in his understandings,” which is not
strange, considering that the grenter part of his life seems
to have been spent in litigation.

Richard Bassett, the reader will recollect, had received u
gift of one thousand acres of the Manor from Mary Law-
son, which in addition to the portions purchased from
Lawson, probally was equivalent in extentto the share of
Mary Lawsan,

About the ¢lose of the Revolutionary war Gharles Car-
roll instituted legal proceedings o foreclose his morigage
upon Joseph Encor’s share of the Manor. But the Manor
had never bren divided,and Ensor, who was then dead, had
during his lifetime continually resisied a partition of it.
Part of it Leing in Delaware, it is easy to comprehend the
difficulty of foreclosing a mortgage undersuch circumstanees,
but the legal talent of that day was equal to the emergency,
and accordingiy,in 1780, the legisiature of MaryTand passed

CHAPTER XIII.
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ProMixexT among the early settlers of Bohemin Manar
were two brothers, Isaae and Matthijas Van Bibber. Their
father, Jncob Isaacs Van Bibber, was a Hollander, and was
one of the first settlers of Gernantown. His sons, the iwo
brotliers before mentioned, were natives of Holland, and
were naturalized in Maryland in 1702, Previous to coming
to Maryland they had been engaged in merchandizing at
_Philadelphia. In 1702 Mathies Van Bibber bought part of
Jdohn Mell, Jr’s land, which the reader will recollect was the
easternmost of the four necks which comprised the Labadie
Tract. Two years afterwards he bought ancther portion of
the same tract, and in 1708 his brother Isaac bought 130
acres of it, which he snd his wife Fronicn scld to Matthias,
in 1711, for £150, which, it is stated in the deed, had been
expended in the erection of 8 mill then occupied by thesaid
Isaac. This mill was located upon a branch of the Bohemia,
called Mill Creek, on ihe site of what was formerly known
a3 Sluyter’s mill, every vestige of which has long since dis-
appeared, even the Jand onee covered by the dam now being
cultivated. This is the first mill mentioned in the history
of that part of the county. 1t was built a short time before
ihe date of the deed. ’
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an fct empowering the Court of Chancery to appoint two
conrmissioners to aet in conjunction with twe others to be
appointed by the Court of Chancery of Delaware (the legis-
lature of which State pessed a like aet in 1780} to divide
the Manor hetween Peter Lawson, Chorles Carroll, Joseph
Ensor, Esq., his guardian, and Edward Oldham, and Mary,
bis wife, whiose npprobation and consent to this method of
settling the disputc had been obiained. Stephen Hyland
and Tobins Rudalph were appointed by the court of Mary-
land and lsaac Grantham and Robert Armstrong by the
court of Delaware. These geutlemen caused the Manor to
be aceurately surveyved, and found that it contained abont
20,000 acres. They divided it into four parts, two of which
they assigned to Peter Lawson.  One-fourth part they gave
to Charles Carroll, and the other to Joseph Ensor and Ed-~
ward and Mury Oldhem, 1o be field by them in severalty,
except the eharo of the Oldhams.  These proceedings were
ratified and confirmed by the courts of the respective States,
and the litigation that had lasted for more than half a cen-
tury was ended, as was also the legal existence of Bohemia
Manor, thut hud continned for a period of one hundred and
twenty-eight years. Charles Corroll sold his ehare in 1793,
for £8,827 10s, to Joshua (layton, Richard Bossett and Ed-
ward Oldham, who were then in possession. It contained
8,031 acres and was bounded on the north by Back Creek
and embraced 8 portion or aH of that part of the Manor that
was in Delaware,

James A. Beyard wflerwards married the only daughter
of Richard Basseit, and in this way came into possession of
that part of the Manor that his descendants still own,

Peter Luwsen's will wasproved in 1792, e claimed oue-
balf of the Manorand devised the bulk of his estate to Rich-
ard Basseti, who was the executor of his will, and directed
that he sliould “support and maintain Mrs. Mary A. Lawson
with everything ibat is necessary during her natural life, or
pay her or the person who may take and provide for her aa
above, the sum of £100 annually in gold or silver.”
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Matthins Van Bibber appears to have been fond of the
sequisition of Jand, for in 1714 he purchased St. Augustine
Menor of Ephraim Augustine Hermen for £300. This Manor
was directly east of Bohemia Manor and was separated from it
by an old eart-road, which was known then and formany years
afterwards as the " 0ld Choptank Road.” It was originally
en Indian path that led from the Choptank River along
the dividing ridge hetween the two bays, probably far up
into Pennsylvania, but was laid out and cleared from the
head of 8i. George's Creek to the Chester River, twelve feet
wide, for a cart-road, in 1682, by Casparus Hermnen and
Hugh MeGregory, who were appointed for the purpose by
the courl. The road had been used so little that it was
then overgrown with young timber and jis Jocation was
doubtful, consequenily the boundaries of the Manor were
unknown. Van Bibber clnimed that the road from the
head of Elk to the head of Bohemia, which ran near the
head of Back Creek, was the boundary between the two
Manors. Whereupon Hermen obtained & commission from
the court to escerlain the esstern boundary of Bohemia
Manor, and in this way (o settle the dispute. The commis-
sioners, who were Jolin Dowdall, Ceptain Benjamin Pearce,
Francis Mauldin and Williem Dare, met in Seplember, 1721,
and after taking the testimony of several witnesses, fixed
the location of the Cheptank Roed, and thus ended the dis-
pute. The alienation fee claimed by the Propristary of
Maryland was paid when the sale of St. Augustine Manor
-was consummated, showing that it was then claimed as part
of Maryland. Matthias Van Bibber also became the proprie-
tor of Van Bibber's Forest, which was patented to him in 1720.
This was a large tract of land in the Third district, near
Meckanics' Valley, containing 850 acres. In addition to
thin he cwned another iract, which is described in his will
85 his plantation at the head of Elk. It was located & short
distance southeast of the mansion of Hon, J. A, J. Creswel
Matihies Van Hibber was for o long time chief justice o1 the



